FILED

JUN 09, 2014

Court of Appeals Division III State of Washington

NO. 32233-5-III

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION III OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

APPELLANT,

v.

CODY RAY FLORES,

RESPONDENT.

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

D. ANGUS LEE PROSECUTING ATTORNEY

By: Kevin J. McCrae, WSBA #43087 Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorney for Appellant

PO BOX 37 EPHRATA WA 98823 (509)754-2011

II.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE
III.	ARGUMENT
	 A. Washington Law requires a totality of the circumstances test as to when a search of a companion to an arrestee is justified
	B. <i>Adams</i> does not require individualized suspicion to seize a companion to the arrestee
IV.	CONCLUSION

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Page

STATE CASES

 State v. Adams, 144 Wn. App. 100, 181 P.3d 37 (2008)
 1, 2, 3, 7, 8, 9

 State v. Collins, 121 Wn.2d 168, 847 P.2d 919 (1993)
 3, 10

 State v. Dykstra, 84 Wn. App. 186, 926 P.2d 929 (1996)
 3

 State v. Johnson, 128 Wn.2d 431, 909 P.2d 293 (1996)
 3

 State v. Mendez, 137 Wn.2d 208, 970 P.2d 722 (1999)
 4, 5, 6, 7, 9

State v. Parker, 139 Wn.2d 486, 987 P.2d 73 (1999)......6, 9

FEDERAL CASES

<i>Brendlin v. California</i> , 551 U.S. 249, 127 S. Ct. 2400, 168 L. Ed. 2d 132 (2007)4, 7			
<i>Florida v. J. L.</i> , 529 U.S. 266, 120 S. Ct. 1375, 146 L. Ed. 2d 254 (2000)7			
Maryland v. Wilson, 519 U.S. 408, 117 S. Ct. 882, 137 L. Ed. 2d 41 (1997)4			
<i>Navarette v. California</i> , U.S, 134 S. Ct. 1683, 188 L. Ed. 2d 680 (2014)7			
Pennsylvania v. Mimms, 434 U.S. 106, 98 S. Ct. 330, 54 L. Ed. 2d 331 (1977)4			
OTHER AUTHORITIES			
CrR 3.62			

I. ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR

A. Assignment of Error.

The Court erred in suppressing the firearm found on the defendant's person. The State assigns error to conclusion of law 3.6. CP 61.

B. Issues Pertaining to Assignment of Error.

1. Did the trial court err in failing to analyze the totality of the circumstances in deciding to suppress the firearm?

Did the trial court err in concluding that *State v. Adams*,
 144 Wn. App. 100, 106-107, 181 P.3d 37 (2008), controls this case? CP
 61.

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Officer Kyle McCain was at the Moses Lake Police Department when 911 received a call from a person who initially gave her name, then changed her mind and said she wished to be anonymous. CP 59. She reported that Giovanni Powell had pointed a gun to someone's head and was at 1120 S. Alderwood in Moses Lake. *Id.* Officer McCain responded to the area. CP 60. Enroute he was informed that Giovanni Powell had a warrant for his arrest. *Id.* Upon arriving in the area he observed Giovani Powell and another individual, later identified as Cody Flores, walking down the street. *Id.* Both had their hands in their pockets. Giovanni Powell is known to Officer McCain and he recognized him on site. *Id.* In addition Powell is a known gang member/associate. *Id.*

Officer McCain drew his weapon, held it at the low ready, and said "Geo, you need to stop." RP 72. Both Flores and Powell stopped. Id., CP 60. Officer McCain ordered both men to their knees, and ordered them to separate from one another. Id. Officer McCain was soon joined by other officers, including Officer Paul Ouimette. CP 60. Officer McCain took Powell into custody. Id. Officer Ouimette then ordered Flores to walk towards him backwards with his hands up. CP 61. As Flores was walking back to Officer Ouimette he told the officer, without prompting, that he had a gun. Id. Officer Ouimette told Flores to just keep walking backwards and they would deal with it in a minute. Id. Officer Ouimette then detained Flores and removed the gun from his pants. Id. At this point the telephone tip was corroborated and officers had reasonable suspicion to detain Flores and investigate further. In doing so they discovered he had a felony conviction, justifying his arrest for unlawful possession of a firearm.

After a hearing conducted pursuant to CrR 3.6 the trial court issued an opinion suppressing the firearm found in Flores' pants. CP 56. The court relied on *State v. Adams*, 144 Wn. App. 100, 106-07, 181 P.3d 37 (2008), to conclude "there must be articulable circumstances indicating the particular person in the arrestee's company poses a threat to officer safety to justify that person's detention and frisk." *Id.*

III. ARGUMENT

In reviewing suppression issues the court reviews findings of fact for substantial evidence in the record. *State v. Dykstra*, 84 Wn. App. 186, 190, 926 P.2d 929 (1996). The appellate court reviews conclusions of law de novo. *State v. Johnson*, 128 Wn.2d 431, 443, 909 P.2d 293 (1996). Where an officer's conduct is connected to safety concerns rather than investigatory goals, [the court is] particularly reluctant to substitute [its] own judgment for that of the officer. *State v. Collins*, 121 Wn.2d 168, 173, 847 P.2d 919 (1993). A frisk for weapons is permissible if (1) the initial stop is legitimate, (2) a reasonable safety concern exists to justify the frisk, and (3) the scope of the frisk is limited to the protective purpose. *Id*.

A. Washington Law requires a totality of the circumstances test as to when a search of a companion to an arrestee is justified.

Given the seizure of Powell was justified by the warrant for his arrest, the officers were justified in seizing Flores in order to secure the scene. The analogy of passengers in a car is a good one for this case, and most case law regarding this type of incident is related to vehicle passengers. Flores was right next to Powell when they were stopped. Flores stopped when Powell was told to stop. The situation faced by the officers would not be materially changed if Officer McCain had come upon Powell and Flores about to drive away in a car rather than walking away down the street. However, the conclusion that the officers need individualized suspicion of criminal activity sufficient to meet the criteria for a Terry stop to detain and frisk a passenger for officer safety reasons is simply incorrect.

In State v. Mendez, 137 Wn.2d 208, 970 P.2d 722 (1999) (Overruled on other grounds by Brendlin v. California, 551 U.S. 249, 127 S. Ct. 2400, 168 L. Ed. 2d 132 (2007)), the court held "an officer must have an articulable rationale predicated upon safety considerations to order the passengers out of the car or to remain in the car." Id. at 212. The Mendez Court cited with approval Pennsylvania v. Mimms, 434 U.S. 106, 98 S. Ct. 330, 54 L. Ed. 2d 331 (1977), and stated "The Mimms holding thus allows a limited police intrusion into a person's freedom from interference in order to preserve officer safety even in the absence of circumstances that would justify an investigatory Terry stop." Mendez, 137 Wn.2d at 215. The court then noted "the United States Supreme Court extended the Mimms holding to include passengers as well as drivers in Maryland v. Wilson, 519 U.S. 408, 117 S. Ct. 882, 137 L. Ed. 2d 41 (1997) (police officer may order passenger of lawfully stopped vehicle to exit for safety purposes). Numerous courts have followed Wilson."

Mendez, 137 Wn.2d at 215. The Court created the following test under

Wash Cons't Art 1 § 7.

With these matters in mind, we conclude Washington's constitutional policy of greater protection to the privacy of individuals in automobiles than the Fourth Amendment provides must carry the day. We fashion rules here to meet that State constitutional standard. Where the officer has probable cause to stop a car for a traffic infraction, the officer may, incident to such stop, take whatever steps necessary to control the scene, including ordering the driver to stay in the vehicle or exit it, as circumstances warrant. This is a de minimis intrusion upon the driver's privacy under article I, section 7.

However, with regard to passengers, we decline to adopt such a bright-line, categorical rule. A police officer should be able to control the scene and ensure his or her own safety, but this must be done with due regard to the privacy interests of the passenger, who was not stopped on the basis of probable cause by the police. An officer must therefore be able to articulate an objective rationale predicated specifically on safety concerns, for officers, vehicle occupants, or other citizens, for ordering a passenger to stay in the vehicle or to exit the vehicle to satisfy article I. section 7. This articulated objective rationale prevents groundless police intrusions on passenger privacy. But to the extent such an objective rationale exists, the intrusion on the passenger is de minimis in light of the larger need to protect officers and to prevent the scene of a traffic stop from descending into a chaotic and dangerous situation for the officer, the vehicle occupants, and nearby citizens.

To satisfy this objective rationale, we do not mean that an officer must meet Terry's standard of reasonable suspicion of criminal activity. Terry must be met if the purpose of the officer's interaction with the passenger is investigatory. For purposes of controlling the scene of the traffic stop and to preserve safety there, we apply the standard of an objective rationale. Factors warranting an officer's direction

to a passenger at a traffic stop may include the following: the number of officers, the number of vehicle occupants, the behavior of the occupants, the time of day, the location of the stop, traffic at the scene, affected citizens, or officer knowledge of the occupants. These factors are not meant to be exclusive; nor do we hold that any one factor, taken alone, automatically justifies an officer's direction to a passenger at a traffic stop. The inquiry into the presence or absence of an objective rationale requires consideration of the circumstances present at the scene of the traffic stop.

Id. at 220-221. (Emphasis added) Mendez involved a stop for a traffic infraction. In State v. Parker, 139 Wn.2d 486, 502, 987 P.2d 73 (1999), the Court created a per se application of the Mendez test, "conclude[ing], however, that whether or not articulable suspicion exists sufficient to justify a patdown for weapons, the circumstance of an arrest falls squarely within the rule of Mendez. Thus, vehicle stop and arrest in and of itself provides officers an objective basis to ensure their safety by "controlling the scene," including ordering passengers in or out of the vehicle as necessary.

Whether one applies *Parker's* per se analysis that officers may control the scene of arrest and detain and move the arrestee's companion, or actually applies the *Mendez* test in a systemic way, the seizure of Flores was justified. Powell was being arrested for his warrant. The officers had an anonymous tip that Powell had just pointed a gun at someone's head. While the tip alone may or may not be sufficient for a *Terry* stop, *Compare Navarette v. California*, _____U.S. ____, 134 S. Ct. 1683, 188 L. Ed. 2d 680 (2014)(anonymous tip sufficient); *Florida v. J. L.*, 529 U.S. 266, 120 S. Ct. 1375, 146 L. Ed. 2d 254 (2000)(anonymous tip insufficient), officers are not required to ignore that information at their peril when conducting the legitimate stop of Powell pursuant to the warrant. *Terry* stop standards are not applicable in this case. The gun could have easily been handed to Flores in the intervening time. In addition Powell is known to associate with gang members, people who present a danger to officers. When applying *Mendez's* test to the facts in this case Flores' detention to control the scene was entirely reasonable and justified. The trial court erred in not conducting this analysis, instead relying on a per se rule it perceived in *State v. Adams*, 144 Wn. App. 100, 106-107, 181 P.3d 37 (2008).

B. Adams does not require individualized suspicion to seize a companion to the arrestee.

The U.S. Supreme Court, in *Brendlin*, 551 U.S. at 251, held that a passenger in a car is seized during a traffic stop, overruling *Mendez* on that point. Jennifer Adams was a passenger in a stolen car that officers stopped. After she was detained and removed from the car the officers searched her and found drugs on her. The two judge majority found that there was no articulable reason to believe she was armed, whereas the dissent felt there was consent for the pat down. Significantly, however,

no judge on the *Adams* court found that Ms. Adams' brief detention to secure the scene was unjustified. Indeed, the court noted that her lack of resistance to that detention is one of the reasons her pat down was unnecessary. If Ms. Adams had declared she had a gun in her pants as she was being taken out of the car, the case would have been completely different, and actually on point to this one. The only question *Adams* asked was whether the officers could search her after she had been peaceably removed from the car.

Adams summarized the applicable cases as follows:

Washington courts have held that a reasonable concern for officer safety justifies a protective frisk in a number of factual circumstances. State v. Horrace, 144 Wn.2d 386, 393-96, 28 P.3d 753 (2001); State v. Parker, 139 Wn.2d 486, 501-04, 987 P.2d 73 (1999); State v. Laskowski, 88 Wn. App. 858, 860, 950 P.2d 950 (1997). One such situation is where, as here, police legitimately contact a suspect and incidentally come into contact with the suspect's companion or vehicle passenger and the conduct of the passenger justifies the frisk. Horrace, 144 Wn.2d at 395-96 (vehicle passenger properly frisked based on furtive movements by driver); State v. Kennedy, 107 Wn.2d 1, 726 P.2d 445 (1986). In Laskowski, the search was justified: "[a]ny reasonable basis supporting an inference that the investigatee or a companion is armed will justify a protective search for weapons." Laskowski, 88 Wn. App. at 860 (emphasis added)

Id. at 104. Here there was more than a reasonable suspicion at the time of the search. First there was the anonymous tip that Powell had pointed a gun at a person's head. Second, prior to the search,

while he was being detained, Flores volunteered to Officer Ouimette that he had a gun. Officer Ouimette was more than justified in taking the gun from Flores for officer safety. To the extent *Adams* applies, it supports the State's case that the search was reasonable.

There is no bright line categorical rule when it comes to controlling companions of an arrestee. *Mendez*, 137 Wn.2d at 215. The court erred in applying one. [A] "vehicle stop and arrest in and of itself provides officers" an objective, reasonable basis to "ensure their safety by 'controlling the scene." *Adams*, 144 Wn. App. at 106, citing *Parker*, 139 Wn.2d at 502. This includes ordering the passenger in and out of the car. *Id*.

In this case the officers were justified in stopping Powell. Flores stopped when Officer McCain told Powell to stop. At this point the officers are justified in treating Flores just like a passenger in a car and moving him to where they needed him to be to secure the scene. The Officers also had information that Powell had recently used a gun in a crime, and Flores volunteered that he had the gun without being asked and before he was searched.

IV. **CONCLUSION**

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