AUG 0 8 2014

COURT OF APPEALS
DIVISION III
STATE OF WASHINGTON

# No. 32233-5-III COURT OF APPEALS STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION III

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Plaintiff/Appellant,

v.

CODY RAY FLORES,

Defendant/Respondent

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF

David Bustamante, WSBA #30668 Grant County Public Defense Attorneys for the Defendant P.O. Box 37 Ephrata, Washington 98823

##

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

#### IV. ARGUMENT

#### 1. STANDARD OF REVIEW

An appellate court reviews disputed findings of fact on a motion to suppress for substantial evidence. *State v. Radka*, 120 Wn. App. 43, 47, 83 P.3d 1038, 1039-40 (2004), *citing State v. Mendez*, 137 Wash.2d 208, 214, 970 P.2d 722 (1999). *See also State v. Dykstra*, 84 Wn. App. 186, 190, 926 P.2d 929, 931 (1996), *citing State v. Hill*, 123 Wash.2d 641, 647, 870 P.2d 313 (1994). Substantial evidence exists where there is sufficient evidence in the record to persuade a fair-minded, rational person of the truth of the finding. *Mendez*, 137 Wash.2d at 214.

Conclusions of law in a suppression order are reviewed *de novo. Id.* See also *State v. Diluzio*, 162 Wn. App. 585, 590, 254 P.3d 218, 219 (2011), *citing State v. Bailey*, 154 Wash.App. 295, 299, 224 P.3d 852, *review denied*, 169 Wash.2d 1004, 236 P.3d

205 (2010). Furthermore, the question of whether an investigatory stop, or warrantless seizure, is constitutional is a question of law reviewed *de novo*. *Bailey* at 295.

2. THE COURT ERRED IN ENTERING FINDINGS OF FACT 2.1 AND 2.2.

Finding of Fact 2.1 states: "Officer McCain was at the Moses Lake Police Department when he received a dispatch notifying him that Geovanni (sic) Powell has pointed a gun at someone's head at 1120 South Alderwood Drive in Moses Lake. The caller stated that she wished to remain anonymous."

There was nothing in the record to support the finding that the caller was a female who stated that she wished to remain anonymous.

The first sentence of the "Statement of the Case" section of Appellant's opening brief, reads as follows: "Officer Kyle McCain was at the Moses Lake Police Department when 911 received a call from a person who initially gave her name, then changed her mind and said she wished to be anonymous." Again, there is nothing in the record to support the claim that the caller was a female who initially gave her name, then changed her name and stated that she wished to remain anonymous.

The trial court held two hearings under CrR 3.5 and 3.6, on December 18, 2013, and January 15, 2014, respectively. VRP 3-55. VRP 56-128. Extensive testimony was taken at these hearings; but at no time did the State elicit testimony to the effect that the

caller was a female, that she initially gave her name, and then changed her mind and said she wished to be anonymous. *Id.*When Officer Oimette was asked, at the CrR 3.5 hearing, what information he had received about the call, the witness answered, "It was information that at 1120 Alderwood, Giovanni Powell had pointed a gun at somebody's head." VRP 14. The witness never stated that the witness had initially provided a name and then changed her mind. *Id.* On the contrary, when asked whether he knew anything about the person who called, Ouimette answered, "I do not know who the person was." *Id.* Also, the witness did not state whether the informant reported the time when the alleged act occurred. *Id.* Ouimette also testified that he did not know how dispatch obtained the information. VRP 14-15.

Officer Kyle McCain also provided testimony at the CrR 3.5 hearing. When asked about the nature of the call, he provided the following testimony:

Q: Okay. Were you dispatched somewhere?

A: Yes. Dispatch dispatched all Moses Lake patrols to the area of 1120 Alderwood.

Q: Okay. Were you looking for somebody in particular when you were dispatched there?

A: Yes. Dispatch advised that Giovanni Powell had a gun.

Q: Okay. Did they also advise something else about Mr. Powell?

A: I asked dispatch on how they knew Mr. Powell had the gun.

Q: Okay.

A: Whether he was brandishing it, holding it, etcetera, how, you know, how they knew.

Q: And what did they say?

A: They advised us that Giovanni Powell had held a gun to somebody's head.

VRP 31-32. Nowhere in this exchange did Officer McCain testify that the person who called was a female who initially gave her name, and then changed her mind and said that she wished to be anonymous. *Id*.

This subject matter was revisited at the CrR 3.6 hearing, where officer McCain gave the following testimony:

Q: Okay. Where were you dispatched to?

A: To the address of 1120 South Alderwood Drive in Moses Lake.

Q: Okay. What was, what was the information you had that you were dispatched on?

A: Initially we were told that Giovanni was there on scene and had a gun.

Q: Okay. Did you get any information about the caller, the person who told you that information?

A: Information about the caller?

Q: Yes.

A: No, they wanted to remain anonymous.

Q: Okay. Okay. As you responded to that scene, did you learn additional information about Mr. Powell?

A: Yes, I asked questions as far as how this person knew Mr. Powell had a, had a firearm, whether he was brandishing it or they just saw it, and they stated he had it pointed at someone's head, and dispatch also advised that Mr. Powell had a warrant in our Spillman system.

VRP 66-67. Again, this exchange does not support the allegation that the caller provided a name, and then changed her mind, and decided that she wished to remain anonymous. *Id*.

Officer Ouimette testified at the same hearing as follows:

Q: Okay. Where did you respond to?

A: To 1120 South Alderwood Drive.

Q: Okay. What kind of call was it?

A: It was a report of Giovanni Powell holding a gun to another subject's head.

Q: Okay. Was it... Were you the first officer to respond to that call?

A: I was not.

Q: Okay. Did you hear any details about that call or ask any questions about it?

A: I didn't ask any questions, but I heard Officer

McCain getting information. The information I heard was

basically that he, Giovanni Powell, had a firearm at the

location, 1120 South Alderwood. Officer McCain asked how they—or what was he doing with the gun, and he explained—or the dispatcher said the he was holding it to somebody's head, according to the reporting party.

Q: Uh-huh. (affirmative).

A: Also dispatch, prior to arrival, dispatch advised that the person reporting it wanted to remain anonymous and they had disconnected and were unable to get them back on the line.

VRP 86-87. In Appellant's opening brief, Appellant does not cite to sworn testimony in support of a number of substantive facts, but cites instead to statements contained in CP 59-61, the written findings prepared by the Prosecuting Attorney's office and entered by the court. *See* Appellant's Brief at 1-2. Respondent assigns error to the court's finding of fact 2.1, as stated herein, to the extent that it is not supported by the testimony presented at either of the two hearings.

The Respondent also assigns error to Finding of Fact 2.2, which is also not entirely consistent with the testimony presented at trial. Finding of Fact 2.2 states: "Officer McCain was familiar with Giovanni Powell. He knew that Powell was in Facebook pictures holding firearms, that he was associated with gang members, and was a material witness in a gang homicide in Spokane." This language is misleading.

Officer McCain did testify that he was familiar with Giovanni Powell from several prior dealings, and was familiar with his appearance. RP 43-44. RP 67-68. Officer McCain was also asked whether he had ever seen pictures of Powell on Facebook. RP 68. McCain responded that he had seen pictures with Powell in them. *Id.* When asked whether Powell was brandishing firearms in those pictures, McCain answered, "I've seen pictures of him holding firearms or friends of his holding firearms." RP 68-69 (emphasis supplied). This testimony does not support the language of Finding 2.2, which states that McCain knew that Powell was in Facebook pictures holding firearms. McCain's testimony actually reflects considerable uncertainty about what McCain actually remembered in that regard; as McCain was not certain that Powell was the person in the photographs who was holding the firearms.

McCain also testified that Powell is in a gang called the Base Block. RP 69. But the witness provided no information about what type of "gang" the Base Block is; what its activities are; or the sorts of people who are members. *Id.* The prosecutor also asked Officer McCain if Mr. Powell was "involved" in a shooting in Spokane. *Id.* McCain responded that Powell had been a material witness and that one of Powell's friends had been killed in Spokane. *Id.* When asked what his knowledge was of the incident, McCain responded, "Just that he [Powell] was there" for a rap concert. *Id.* A fight broke out in a motel, and one of Powell's best friends was shot and killed. RP at 70. This is hardly testimony

supporting a conclusion that Powell was dangerous. McCain offered no testimony that Powell had ever behaved violently toward officers, that he ever resisted arrest, or assaulted anyone, or even that he had any criminal convictions of any kind.

3. BOTH THE STATE AND FEDERAL CONSTITUTIONS PROHIBIT WARRANTLESS SEIZURES UNLESS A NARROW EXCEPTION APPLIES.

The Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution guarantees the right of the people to be secure in their persons, homes, papers, and effects against unreasonable searches and seizures. The due process clause of the Fourteenth Amendment extends this right to protect against intrusions by state governments. *Mapp v. Ohio*, 367 U.S. 643 (1960). The federal constitution, however, only establishes the minimum level of protection for individual rights. *State v. Chrisman*, 100 Wn.2d 814, 817 (1984).

"It is by now axiomatic that article I, section 7 provides greater protection to an individual's right of privacy than that guaranteed by the Fourth Amendment." *State v. Parker*, 139 W.2d 486, 493 (1999). The Washington Constitution has consistently provided greater protection of individual rights than its federal counterpart. *See State v. Ladson*, 138 Wn.2d 343 (1999); *State v. Ferrier*, 136 Wn.2d 103, 111 (1998); *State v. Hendrickson*, 129 Wn.2d 61, 69 n.1 (1996); *State v. Young*, 123 Wn.2d 173, 180 (1994); *State v. Williams*, 102 Wn.2d 733 (1984). Indeed, the scope of the protections offered by article I, section 7 is "not

limited to subjective expectations of privacy but, more broadly, protects 'those privacy interests which citizens of this state have held, and should be entitled to hold, safe from governmental trespass absent a warrant." *Parker*, 139 Wn.2d at 494 (quoting *State v. Myrick*, 102 Wn.2d 506, 511 (1984)).

# 4. WARRANTLESS SEIZURES ARE PRESUMPTIVELY UNREASONABLE.

Warrantless seizures are *per se* unreasonable under both the state and federal constitutions. *State v. Walker*, 136 Wn.2d 678, 682 (1998); *State v. Chrisman*, 100 Wn.2d 814, 818 (1984); *Coolidge v. New Hampshire*, 403 U.S. 443 (1971). The government bears the heavy burden of establishing an exception to the warrant requirement by clear and convincing evidence. *State v. Garvin*, 166 Wn.2d 242, 250, 207 P.3d 1266 (2009).

#### 5. THE DEFENDANT WAS SEIZED.

A person is seized in the constitutional sense when his or her freedom of movement is restrained. *United States v. Mendenhall*, 446 U.S. 544, 554 (1980). Restraint amounting to a seizure may arise either from the use of physical force or through a show of authority. *State v. Avila-Avina*, 99 Wn. App. 9, 14 (2000); *State v. Young*, 135 Wn.2d 498, 510 (1998)(quoting *State v. Stroud*, 30 Wn. App. 392, 394-95 (1981) *review denied*, 96 Wn.2d 1025 (1982)). The relevant inquiry for the court is whether, in view of all of the circumstances surrounding the incident, "a reasonable person would have felt free to leave or otherwise

decline the officer's requests and terminate the encounter." *State v. Thorn*, 129 Wn.2d 347, 352-53 (1996). The court must look objectively at the totality of circumstances in making its determination. *State v. Coyne*, 99 Wn. App. 566, 571 (2000).

In determining whether a reasonable person in the defendant's position would have felt free to terminate the encounter, the defendant's age is a relevant factor. *J.D.B. v. N. Carolina*, 131 S.Ct. 2394, 2397, 180 L.Ed.2d 310 (2011) (holding *Miranda* custody analysis includes whether defendant is a child because the objective "reasonable person" standard includes relevant circumstances like age); *see also Id.* at 2404 (age is also part of "reasonable person" inquiry in tort law). "It is beyond dispute that children will often feel bound to submit to police questioning when an adult in the same circumstances would feel free to leave." *J.D.B.*, 131 S.Ct. at 2398-99. At the the time of this encounter, the Defendant was 18 years of age, according to the Information filed by the State. CP Sub 1, at page 2.

Although a police officer has not necessarily seized an individual merely by approaching him in a public place and asking him questions, an interaction that starts as a "social contact" may escalate into a seizure. *State v. Harrington*, 167 Wn.2d 656, 222 P.3d 92 (2009). Whether an individual was seized turns not on the officer's perceptions of what occurred but on the defendant's reasonable evaluation of the situation. *State v. Barnes*, 96 Wn. App. 217, 223-24 (1999). The officer's subjective beliefs or

intentions in this regard are immaterial unless communicated to the defendant. Id. Applying this standard, Washington courts have found that permissive encounters "ripen into seizures when an officer commands the defendant to wait, retains valuable property, or blocks the defendant from leaving." State v. Coyne, 99 Wn. App. at 573. See also State v. Young, 167 Wn.App. 922, 275 P.3d 1150, 1155 (2012) (two officers seized defendant when "[t]hey stood approximately 5 feet from [her], each at 45-degree angles from her while her back was to a wall, and asked for the last four digits of her social security number"). When an officer takes custody of a citizen's identification or driver's license, for example, the citizen himself is seized within the meaning of the Fourth Amendment. Coyne, 99 Wn. App. at 572 (retaining suspects coat and license during warrant check was unlawful seizure); State v. Thomas, 91 Wn. App. at 200-201 (seizure occurred when officer retained suspect's license while taking three steps to back of car in order to conduct warrant check via hand-held radio); State v. Dudas, 52 Wn. App. 832, 834-35 (1988)(seizure occurred when deputy retained pedestrian's ID for four minutes) review denied, 112 Wn.2d 1011 (1989); State v. Aranguren, 42 Wn. App. 452, 456-57 (1985)(seizure occurred when deputy retained bicyclists' identification cards during warrant check).

Police need not actually take physical custody of the defendant or his belongings to seize him in the constitutional sense. In *State v. Ellwood* the court found that an officer's request

for the defendant to "wait right here" constituted a seizure. 52 Wn. App. 70, 73 (1988); see also State v. Barnes, 96 Wn. App. 217 (1999) (communicating mistaken belief that defendant had outstanding warrant and asking him to "wait" amounted to seizure). Similarly, a seizure occurs when police officers pull up behind a parked vehicle and activate their emergency lights. State v. Markgraf, 59 Wn. App. 509, 511 (1990); State v. DeArman, 54 Wn. App. 621 (1989); State v. Stroud, 30 Wn. App. 392, 396 (1981) review denied, 96 Wn.2d 1025 (1982); State v. Gantt, 163 Wn. App. 133, 141, 257 P.3d 682, 687 (2011).

Police may seize an individual through commands or requests even if the words used do not explicitly implicate the freedom to walk away. For example, a passenger in an automobile is seized when an officer stops the car in which he is riding, even though the passenger is theoretically free to leave. *Brendlin v. California*, 551 U.S. 249, 127 S. Ct. 2400; 168 L. Ed. 2d 132 (2007). Furthermore, a passenger in an automobile is seized when an officer asks that person for identification. *State v. Rankin*, 151 Wn.2d 689, 696 (2004). *See also State v. Richardson*, 64 Wn. App. 693, 696 (1992)(police directive to empty pockets and place hands on patrol car transformed encounter into a seizure); *State v. Pressley*, 64 Wn. App. 591, 598 (1992) (implicitly concluding that officer's request to defendant "to remove her hand or to show him what was in it" was a *Terry* stop requiring legal justification); *State v. O'Day*, 91 Wn. App. 244 (1998)(car passenger seized when

ordered out of car, purse placed out of reach, asked about drugs and weapons, and asked for consent to search; State v. Carney, 142 Wn. App. 197, 202 (2007) (command that defendant raise hands and provide identification constituted a seizure). A request for consent to search may also transform what would otherwise be a social contact into a seizure. State v. Soto-Garcia, 68 Wn, App. 20, 25 (1992). See also State v. Harrington, 167 Wn.2d 656, 222 P.3d 92 (2009) (Social contact escalated to seizure when second officer arrived but did not participate in interaction, initial officer directed defendant to remove hands from pockets and then asked for consent to frisk). Other factors that suggest a police officer seized a subject are "the threatening presence of several officers, the display of a weapon by an officer, some physical touching of the person of the citizen, or the use of language or tone of voice indicating that compliance with the officer's request might be compelled." State v. Harrington, 167 Wn.2d 656, 664, 222 P.3d 92, 95 (2009) (quoting Young, 135 Wash.2d at 512, 957 P.2d 681). 6. THE SEIZURE WAS UNLAWFUL.

In *Terry v. Ohio*, the United States Supreme Court recognized a narrow exception to the general rule requiring probable cause before a seizure is permitted. 392 U.S. 1 (1968). Under *Terry*, a police officer may briefly detain and question an individual if the officer has a reasonable and articulable suspicion of criminal activity. The officer must be able to point to "specific and articulable facts which, taken together with rational inferences

from those facts reasonably warrant the intrusion." *Terry*, 392 U.S. at 21; *See also State v. Tocki*, 32 Wn. App. 457, 460 (1982) ("investigative stops are carefully circumscribed--the officer's suspicion must be based on specific, objective facts."). The State bears the burden of establishing a lawful basis for any *Terry* stop. *State v. Alcantara*, 79 Wn. App. 362, 365 (1995).

Under Washington law, the police may not detain a citizen unless there is a substantial possibility that criminal conduct has occurred or is about to occur. *State v. Mendez*, 137 Wn.2d 208, 223 (1999)(quoting *State v. Kennedy*, 107 Wn.2d 1, 6 (1986)); *See also State v. Walker*, 66 Wn. App. 622, 626 (1992).

"[C]ircumstances must be more consistent with criminal than innocent conduct." *State v. Mercer*, 45 Wn. App. 769, 774 (1986). "Innocuous facts" do not justify a stop. *State v. Armenta*, 134 Wn.2d 1, 13, 948 P.2d 1280 (1997). Moreover, the test is an objective one. Because there is no "good faith" exception to the exclusionary rule in Washington, the subjective beliefs of the officer are irrelevant. *State v. White*, 97 Wn.2d 92, 105 (1982); *State v. Sanchez*, 74 Wn. App. 763 (1994), *review denied*, 125 Wn.2d 1022 (1995); *State v. Trenidad*, 23 Wn. App. 418 (1979).

In order to meet the *Terry* standard, an officer's suspicion must be individualized. *State v. Parker*, 139 Wn.2d 486, 497-98 (1999); *State v. Richardson*, 64 Wn. App. 693, 697 (1992). *State v. Thompson*, 93 Wn.2d 838, 841 (1980). Defendant's mere proximity to others independently suspected of criminal activity

does not justify the stop. *State v. Thompson*, 93 Wn.2d 838, 841, 613 P.2d 525, 527 (1980), citing *Ybarra v. Illinois*, 444 U.S. 85, 100 S.Ct. 338, 62 L.Ed.2d 238 (1979); *State v. Larson*, 93 Wash.2d 638, 611 P.2d 771 (1980). A generalized suspicion based purely on an individual's presence in a particular area likewise cannot justify a *Terry* stop. *Sibron v. New York*, 392 U.S. 40, 62 (1968). Particularized suspicion requires "some suspicion of a particular crime or a particular person, and some connection between the two." *State v. Martinez*, 135 Wn. App. 174, 182 (2006). In *State v. Larson*, the Washington Supreme Court emphasized that an individual's constitutional protections do not evaporate in any particular area merely because of the local crime rate:

It is beyond dispute that many members of our society live, work, and spend their waking hours in high crime areas, a description that can be applied to parts of many of our cities. That does not automatically make those individuals proper subjects for criminal investigation.

93 Wn.2d 638, 645 (1980). See also Brown v. Texas, 443 U.S. 47, 52 (1979) ("The fact that appellant was in a neighborhood frequented by drug users, standing alone, is not a basis for concluding that appellant himself was engaged in criminal conduct"); State v. Martinez, 135 Wn.App. 174 (2006) (presence of unknown individual near parked cars in apartment complex where there had been reported car prowls did not justify seizure, even when individual walked quickly away and told officer he did not live there); State v. Diluzio, 162 Wash.App. 585, 593, 254 P.3d

218, 221 (2011) (defendant's having a conversation with a woman who got into the passenger side of his vehicle in area known for prostitution did not justify seizure); *State v. Doughty*, 170 Wash.2d 57, 63, 239 P.3d 573, 575 (2010) ("[p]olice may not seize a person who visits a location—even a suspected drug house—merely because the person was there at 3:20 a.m. for only two minutes").

Similarly, the fact that an individual is in the company of others suspected of crime does not establish the necessary reasonable articulable suspicion. *State v. Lennon*, 94 Wn. App. 573, 580, review denied, 138 Wn.2d 1014 (1999). "Merely associating with a person suspected of criminal activity does not strip away the protections of the fourth amendment to the United States Constitution." *State v. Broadnax*, 98 Wn.2d 289, 296 (1982). In *Sibron v. New York*, a companion case to *Terry*, the Supreme Court stated in no uncertain terms that:

The inference that persons who talk to narcotics addicts are engaged in the criminal traffic in narcotics is simply not the sort of reasonable inference required to support an intrusion by the police upon an individual's personal security.

392 U.S. 40, 62 (1968).

The Washington Supreme Court affirmed the principle of individualized suspicion in *State v. Larson*, holding that a stop based on an offense committed by one individual in a vehicle cannot be used to detain and question other occupants of that vehicle. 93 Wn.2d at 641-42. Indeed, the *Larson* Court stressed that an offense committed by the driver of a car "does not

reasonably provide an officer with grounds to require identification of individuals in the car other than the driver, unless other circumstances give the police independent cause to question passengers." *Id.* at 642 [emphasis added]. *See also State v. Rankin*, 151 Wn.2d 689, 695 (2004) (officer must have independent cause to ask passenger for identification).

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